The Organ Specification and History

The organ was designed by St.Bees born Lt. Col. George Dixon (1870-1950) and built by Norman & Beard in 1909. It is known as one of the ‘Three Graces’ together with the Dixon designed Organs at St. Bees Priory (jointly designed with Francis J. Livesey, built by “Father” Henry Willis in 1899) and that at St. Nicholas’, Whitehaven (sadly destroyed in the 1971 fire)- built 1904 by Harrison & Harrison.

Further information about the St. Bees organ can be found at the web site http://www.stbees.org.uk/church/church.willis.htm
A full specification of the St. Nicholas Organ is given at the end of this Leaflet, for comparison purposes.

Dixon also designed other notable organs at Cleator St. Leonard’s, Whitehaven United Reformed Church (with Alfred Hollins) (http://www.whiteheath.demon.co.uk/cso/organs/wh_urc.html), St. Paul (Bloor Street), Toronto 1914, St. Hilary of Poitiers, Wallasey 1924 (a rebuild of the 1861 Fr Willis Instrument), St. James, West Hartlepool 1939 but built 1946, Martin’s Memorial Church Stornoway 1949 and Abingdon St. Helen 1928 as well as rebuilds of many others. Of other local interest he was also involved in designing the rebuild & enlargement of Carlisle Cathedral Organ in 1906.

Original Specification

II GREAT 7 Stops, 3 Couplers

16 Rohr Bordun
wood & metal


8 Open Diapson (Metal)

8 Geigen (Metal)

8 Claribel flute
wood; closed bass


4 Principal


2 2/3 Twelfth


2 Fifteenth

III SWELL (soundboard with extra treble octave, 70 notes) 7 Stops, 2 Couplers

8 Horn Diapson
wood & metal


8 Lieblich Gedeckt*- built as a 4’ on the slide for the Geigen
wood & metal


4 Geigen Principal* (Metal)

2 Gemshorn


III Mixture 12*.19.22


16 Corno di Bassetto


8 Trumpet


   Tremulant (also acting on Orchestral)

I ORCHESTRAL (enclosed) 5 Stops, 3 Couplers

16 Quintatön* (Metal)

8 Hohl Flöte; open throughout


4 Concert Flute*
harmonic metal


8 Viole d’Orchestre


8 Viole Céleste*
full compass

BOMBARDE (floating) 2 Stops

8 Harmonic Tromba (Metal)



4 Octave Tromba (Metal, 44 from XL)
extension

PEDAL 5 Stops, 3 Couplers

16 Open Wood


16 Subbass (from no. 13)
Great 16ft


8 Octave Wood (18 from no. 1)

8 Flute (from no. 13)
Great 16ft


16 Trombone (Metal)
Couplers: Orchestral to Pedal, Great to Pedal, Swell to Pedal, Orchestral Octave, Bombarde to Orchestral, Swell to Orchestral, Bombarde to Great, Bombarde to Pedal Orchestral to Great, Swell to Great, Swell Octave, Swell Octaves Alone

Combination Pedals; 4 to Great, Bombarde, Pedal and couplers; 4 to Swell and couplers.

Reversible pedals to: Great to Pedal, Tremulant

Balanced pedals to Swell, Orchestral.

Compass 58/30

Wind pressures: Great- 3½ in.; Swell, Orchestral, Bombarde- 7 in.; Pedal- flues 3½ and 4½ in., reed 8 in.

The Draw-Stop jambs are at an angle of 60 degrees to the keyboard, the stop handles have Ivory Heads, the Speaking Stops being lettered in black, and the Couplers etc in red. The Octave and Bombarde Couplers are grouped with the Speaking Stops of the departments they augment. The Pedal Couplers and the other manual couplers are arranged in two groups above the Swell Keyboard.

Special Metal was used for all Trebles, Harmonic, Covered and Cone-Tuned Pipes. The Basses of all Metal Stops are of stout zinc or special metal.

The Blowing Apparatus is two separate paired feeder bellows, operated by two Watkins & Watson Hydraulic Engines, controlled from the Console by a Hydraulic Starter.

Immediately behind the front is the Great Organ Flue Work, at the back of which stands the heavy pressure Bombarde and Pedal Reeds. In rear of these is the Swell Organ, and above it, in another box, the  Orchestral department. At the back of the instrument stand the heavy Open Wood Stops of the Pedal, below which is placed the Blowing Apparatus.
NOTES
The asterisked registers were prepared for only.
The organ was dedicated on May 28th, 1909 at 3 p.m. with a recital given by Mr T.W.Hanforth (who was later to become the organist of Sheffield Cathedral. At the time of dedication he was at Sheffield Parish Church and had previously been assistant at York Minster)
In 1927 the 4’ Geigen Principal was installed, but as a 4’ Gemshorn; The 2’ Gemshorn was installed but as a 8’ Echo Gamba; The Mixture on the Swell was added but as a 15.19.22; An 8’ Oboe was substituted for the planned 16’ Quintaton, but not installed until September 1919; The 8’ Viole Céleste was installed, but to tc only.
At a later date before 1943 the 4’ Concert Flute and 8’ Lieblich Gedeckt were added. This may well have been at the first major overhaul in 1933, following which it was formally re-opened on 25th May 1933.
In 1955 water power was superseded by electricity, and the organ fitted with an electric blower- Cost £258
Harrison & Harrison undertook a full overhaul and restoration in 1963 at a cost of £1290. The organ was re-opened after this work on 22nd March 1964.
In 1991 it was converted to Solid State Interlocking & Bombarde to Pedal was added by Stephen Davis of Lancaster. At the same time it was treated for woodworm infestation in the blower box & building frame, and preventively treated on the floor, the bourdon pipes and the upper structure (by E.R. Watson of Bolton Abbey).
In 2009 there was significant water ingress from the roof, which rendered the instrument unplayable. It was restored by Manders of London during the summer and autumn of 2011.
The number of pipes is 406 Great, 630 Swell, 290 Orchestral, 70 Bombarde and 72 Pedal- a total of 1,468.
In 1929 Dixon wrote of this scheme: 

The idea of obtaining the maximum variety and effect from the minimum number of stops is no new one, and, as is well known, it is always more difficult to design a small instrument than a large one, particularly when grandeur of effect and reasonable completeness throughout are especially aimed at. The number of stops which could be inserted was comparatively small: it was therefore necessary to exclude every register which did not in some way or other tend to build up the general ensemble, and to ensure that each individual stop should possess its own distinctive tonal character. Except in the case of the viole céleste, this principle was strictly adhered to. It was then quite exceptional to make the only double in the swell a reed, and the trombas playable independently from two manuals. The former was a special point in Best's design for the two manual Willis at Wallasey Parish Church in 1861, though a yet earlier example by Holdich has been quoted by that eminent archaeologist of the organ, the Rev. Andrew Freeman. The latter appeared at least as early as 1886 in the Lewis instrument for the People's Palace, Mile End Road. Both these features in some form or other have now become almost commonplace. The method of employing a separate bombarde department was afterwards used at Wallasey in the last reconstruction (designed by Dixon - j.r.) and more recently in Dr. Darke's organ at St. Michael, Cornhill. Now-a-days such a department would be coupled to each keyboard by unison and octave couplers, thus providing free registration and combinational control of tromba or octave tromba on both manuals. Common honesty demands, however, that it should be made absolutely clear that there is only one rank of pipes and that all four stops are really borrowed from each other.

The introduction of an independent pedal reed in so small a scheme is, alas, a rarity. Unfortunately, all three manual doubles are of the covered type. Had space and funds permitted, an open 16ft. of some kind - borrowed, of course, on the pedal - would have been inserted on the great, together with a compound stop. The borrowing of manual doubles on the pedal - to which post-war designers have taken so kindly - was however a conspicuous feature in nearly all Messrs. Harrison's pre-war schemes and owes its inception to Thomas Casson in the eighties.

The great claribel and the orchestral hohl flöte are worthy of note. The middle and lower portions of the former are kept down for accompanimental purposes; while the latter, with its mouth on the wide side, though enclosed, is a prominent solo stop. A few words may be said about the 16ft. corno di bassetto. While it is smooth enough to blend well and has sufficient body to serve as a foundation double in a medium sized swell (which the oboe has not), it also answers the purpose of an orchestral double reed, and by octave duplication as an ordinary solo clarinet 8ft. (of complete compass), which would otherwise be absent from the scheme. One of the combinations draws the "corno di bassetto 16ft." and "octaves alone". The trumpet, voiced after the french school with open parallel shallots, is brilliant and incisive, but refined in quality. It presents a fine contrast to the smooth toned trombas of the bombard. The swell octave coupler is effective to the top note of the keyboard, and its value in consequence is greatly enhanced. The suboctave coupler was rigidly excluded, but 16ft. registers have been freely introduced throughout the scheme, thereby securing ample dignity. There are no mutations or chorus on the orchestral; but, except in quite large instruments, such stops on the third manual were then unthought of in this country. 

Taken as a whole, in spite of its enforced limitation to twenty-six speaking registers, and apart altogether from the dignity, brilliance and grandeur of its general effect, let anyone carefully consider what variety of resources are available in such an instrument. It is possible, for example, to play the tune of a Bach chorale as a pedal solo on an unenclosed reed in 4ft. pitch with the accompaniment on the great organ flue work. This cannot always be accomplished on organs double the size.

It is interesting to note that Dixon's original scheme was for a two-manual instrument, as follows:

II GREAT
    16       Rohr Gedeckt            wood & metal

     8       Open Diapason

     8       Geigen

     8       Claribel Flute          wood; closed bass

     4       Principal

    2 2/3    Twelfth

     2       Fifteenth

     8       Harmonic Tromba

     4       Octave Tromba           extension

 

III SWELL (soundboard with extra treble octave, 70 notes)

     8       Open Diapason           wood & metal, leathered

     8       Viole Sourdine

     4       Lieblich Flute    

    III      Mixture  15.19.22

    16       Corno di Bassetto

     8       Oboe

     8       Trumpet

             Tremulant

 

PEDAL  

    16       Open Diapason           wood    

    16       Subbass                 Great 16ft.

     8       Octave                  20 from Open Wood   

     8       Flute                   Great 16ft.  

    16       Trombone                extension Great Harmonic Tromba

 

Couplers:  Great to Pedal, Swell to Pedal, Swell to Great, Reeds on Swell, 

           Swell 8ve, Swell 8ves alone.

 

Combination pedals:  4 to Great and Pedal,  4 to Swell.

Reversible pedals to:  Great to Pedal.

Balanced pedal to Swell.

Swell to Great coupler duplicated on each jamb.

 

Compass: 58/30.

 

Wind pressures:  Action, Pedal reed, Great reeds, all Swell  - 7in.

                 Great and Pedal flues - 3 1/2in.

For comparison the Specification for the St. Nicholas Organ is given below:

I GREAT and CHOIR    

    32       Quintaton                   tc              

    16       Contra Geigen               south front

    16       Double Claribel             wood, open to G 5 1/3ft.

     8       Large Open Diapason

     8       Small Open Diapason

     8       Geigen

     8       Wald Flöte                   open wood     

     8       Rohr Flöte                   wood bass

    5 1/3    Stopped Quint

     4       Octave

     4       Geigen Principal

     4       Hohl Flöte                   triangular, wood & metal

    2 2/3    Octave quint

     2       Superoctave

     2       Harmonic Piccolo

    IV       Harmonics  17.19.f21.22

             Swell to Great

             Solo to Great

 

II SWELL
    16       Lieblich Bordun             wood bass

     8       Open Diapason

     8       Gedeckt                     
wood bass

     8       Echo Gamba

     8       Vox Angelica                flat, salicional, tc

     4       Octave Gamba

     4       Lieblich Flöte

     2       Gemshorn

    III      Mixture  12.19.22

    16       Double Trumpet

     8       Cornopean                   harmonic trebles

     8       Oboe     

     4       Clarion                     harmonic trebles

     8       Cor Anglais                 striking free reed

             Tremulant (light pressure stops only)

 

III SOLO and TUBA (enclosed except tubas)

    16       Contra Viola                closed wood bass

     8       Flûte Harmonique       

     8       Viole d'Orchestre

     8       Viole Céleste          to FF, 6ft.

     4       Concert Flute               harmonic

     8       Corno di Bassetto

             Tremulant

             Solo Octave

             Swell to Solo

     8       Tuba                        harmonic

     4       Octave Tuba                 harmonic

             Tubas to Great

 

PEDAL
    32       Major Bass                 wood, 1-5 acoustic

    16       Open Wood

    16       Violone                    Great 16ft. Geigen

    16       Sub Bass

     8       Octave                     extension

     8       Violoncello                independent; west front

     8       Flute                      extension

    16       Ophicleide

     8       Tromba                     extension

             Great to Pedal

             Swell to Pedal

             Solo to Pedal

 

             Pedal and Accompaniment to Solo pistons

             Pedal and accompaniment to Swell pistons

             Great & Pedal combinations coupled

 

Thumb pistons:  6 to Great ( 2 for 'Choir' effects),

                5 to Swell, 4 to Solo. 
6 combination pedals to Pedal. 
Reversible piston  - Great to Pedal. 
 

Balanced swell pedals to Swell and Solo.

 

Compass: 61/32.

 

Action: mechanical to pedal couplers; rest tubular-pneumatic.

Wind Pressures:  Action and Pedal reeds - 11in.

                 Tubas - 10in.

                 Swell - trumpets 7in, remainder 4in.

                 Solo and Pedal Violoncello -  5 1/2in. (Whitworth gives 5 3/4in.)

                 Great and rest of Pedal - 3 (Whitworth gives 3 1/2in.) and 3 3/4in.

An excellent commentary on the Organ is to be found in The Organ- a quarterly review for its Makers, its Players & its Lovers No. 87: Vol. XXII dated January 1943.

This is available, upon request, in the Parish Archives for reading within the Church premises only.
Lieutenant- Colonel Dixon was born at St. Bees and baptized on 13th March 1870- the son of George and Bridget (nee Noble), His father was a Civil Engineer. He was educated at St. Bees School (1881 to 1885), Bradfield College and Trinity, Cambridge where he took an Honours Degree in Chemistry in 1893 and became a fellow of the Chemical Society in 1894. He developed his love of Organs at Cambridge. He was a magistrate for 38 years, and was appointed Chairman of the Bench in 1927. He commanded the 5th Territorial Battalion of the Border Regiment in the First World War. His only full length book, called ‘The Organ’ was published shortly before his death on 21st October 1950, at Fern Bank, High House Road, St. Bees aged 80. The funeral was on 24th October, followed by interment at St. Bees. At the 1881 census he was living with his aunt, Mary A. Noble at Sea View. His mother had died at the age of 41 in March 1877 and his father in April 1876 aged 56. His parents had married on September 17th 1868, his parental grandfather, also George, was a coal owner. For his father this was the second marriage.
He was one of the foremost inhabitants of St. Bees, and was on the PCC of the Parish for at least the thirty years before his death. He is remembered for his kindness.
Although skilled in building Organs his musicianship is rather uncertain- on every occasion that he stood in for Frances Livesey he lost track of the music part way through each hymn and his standard opening piece was “Danny Boy”.
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